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DECISIONS
The Tribunal dismisses Mr Trevor McKee’s appeal against the decision of the Respondent refusing his application for a general waiver of his disqualification from acting as a trustee of a charity. 
The Tribunal dismisses Mr Gregory Burke’s appeal as an affected person.

Introduction 

1. This is a record of the Decisions made by the Tribunal in respect of Appeals brought by Mr Trevor McKee and Mr Gregory Burke against a decision made by the Charity Commission for Northern Ireland (“the Respondent”) under Section 86(4) of the Charities Act (Northern Ireland) 2008 (“the 2008 Act”).  
2. Mr McKee applied to the Respondent for a general waiver of his disqualification from acting as a trustee of a charity. The Respondent refused to grant such a waiver. Mr McKee has appealed to the Tribunal against that refusal. Mr Gregory Burke has also appealed, on the basis that he is a person affected by the Respondent’s decision. 
3. Upon the hearing of these Appeals, Mr McKee and Mr Burke represented themselves and each was assisted by the other in the presentation of his case. Ms Yvonne Bell, Solicitor, appeared on behalf of the Respondent. The Tribunal is grateful to the representatives for their oral and written submissions. As appears further below, the Tribunal also received submissions from the Attorney General, for which it is likewise grateful. 
Mr McKee’s removal as a charity trustee

4. On 15 August 2013, the Respondent made an order removing Mr McKee as a charity trustee of Lough Neagh Rescue Limited (“the Charity”). Mr McKee appealed to the Tribunal against that order. By a Decision issued on 3 July 2014, the Tribunal dismissed Mr McKee’s appeal. 

5. On 25 October 2013, the Respondent purported to make orders removing Mr Burke, first, as an officer and agent of the Charity, and secondly, as a member of the Charity. Mr Burke appealed to the Tribunal against those orders. At the hearing of the appeal, as events transpired, the Respondent did not oppose Mr Burke’s appeal. The Tribunal allowed Mr Burke’s appeal.

6. The Tribunal refers to its decision in Mr McKee’s earlier appeal. It is important to consider the basis upon which the Tribunal’s decision was made, which was set out at length in the decision dated 3 July 2014. That decision should be read in full. However, without derogating from the entirety of the decision and the reasoning and findings set out in it, the Tribunal draws attention to its comments at paragraphs 71, 178, 179 and 184 and 185, of its earlier decision, as follows:
[71] Having made those findings, the Tribunal goes further and says that where such a Board was in existence, no individual had the right to take steps, with regard to the Charity and its affairs, on a unilateral basis, without reference to that Board and without the authorisation of that Board.

…
[178] Mr McKee, in his own correspondence, acknowledged that freezing the bank account created a potential risk to life; and he must have appreciated that interference with the lifeboat would have restricted training opportunities. Further, Mr McKee’s actions with regard to possible new assets and the Charity’s income stream (whether from fundraising events or collection boxes) directly interfered with, or at the least had the potential to directly interfere with, the operation and effectiveness of the Charity and thus the interests of the Charity’s beneficiaries. Mr McKee’s actions in these respects directly conflicted with the objectives of the Charity, objectives that he was obliged to uphold rather than frustrate. 

[179] Mr McKee had no authority to commit any of these actions. Regardless of his views as to the lawfulness or legitimacy of the December 2011 AGM, Mr McKee was not entitled to take any of these actions. Furthermore, any concerns Mr McKee had about the conduct of other members of the Charity did not entitle him to take these steps, which were so potentially damaging to the Charity and its beneficiaries. 

…

[184] However, having regard to Mr McKee’s mismanagement, the Tribunal is satisfied that it is both necessary and desirable to act for the purpose of protecting the property of the Charity or securing a proper application for the purposes of the Charity of that property or of property coming to the charity, specifically to act by removing Mr McKee as a trustee and Company Director of the Charity. 

[185] This is because the Tribunal considers that there is no prospect of Mr McKee productively contributing to the administration of the affairs of the Charity. On the contrary, during the entirety of the time during which these proceedings have been before the Tribunal, the Tribunal has not received any indication from Mr McKee that he has any intention of recognising the authority of the current Board of the Charity or of working constructively with it. In those circumstances, the Tribunal concludes that unless Mr McKee is removed from office, there will be further conflict and disharmony in the management of the Charity, which will interfere with the proper application of the Charity’s property. 

The Respondent

7. The Respondent was established by Section 6 of the 2008 Act. The Respondent’s objectives are set out in Section 7 of the 2008 Act, as follows:
 (1) The Commission has the objectives set out in subsection (2).

(2) The objectives are—

1. The public confidence objective.

2. The public benefit objective.

3. The compliance objective.

4. The charitable resources objective.

5. The accountability objective.

(3) Those objectives are defined as follows—

1. The public confidence objective is to increase public trust and confidence in charities.

2. The public benefit objective is to promote awareness and understanding of the operation of the public benefit requirement.

3. The compliance objective is to promote compliance by charity trustees with their legal obligations in exercising control and management of the administration of their charities.

4. The charitable resources objective is to promote the effective use of charitable resources.

5. The accountability objective is to enhance the accountability of charities to donors, beneficiaries and the general public.

8. The Respondent’s general functions are set out in Section 8(2). Paragraph 2 of Section 8(2) of the 2008 Act defines one of the Respondent’s functions in the following terms:
Encouraging and facilitating the better administration of charities.
9. Section 9(2) of the 2008 Act sets out the Respondent’s general duties, as follows:

(2) The general duties are—

1. So far as is reasonably practicable the Commission must, in performing its functions, act in a way:

(a) which is compatible with its objectives, and

(b) which it considers most appropriate for the purpose of meeting those objectives.

2. So far as is reasonably practicable the Commission must, in performing its functions, act in a way which is compatible with the encouragement of-

(a) all forms of charitable giving, and
(b) voluntary participation in charity work.

3. In performing its functions the Commission must have regard to the need to use its resources in the most efficient, effective and economic way.
4. In performing its functions the Commission must, so far as relevant, have regard to the principles of best regulatory practice (including the principles under which regulatory activities should be proportionate, accountable, consistent, transparent and targeted only at cases in which action is needed).

5. In performing its functions the Commission must have regard to the desirability of facilitating innovation by or on behalf of charities.
6. In managing its affairs the Commission must have regard to such generally accepted principles of good corporate governance as it is reasonable to regard as applicable to it.
The waiver provision: Section 86(4) of the 2008 Act

10. Section 86(4) of the 2008 Act provides as follows:

(4) The Commission may, on the application by D, waive D's disqualification either generally or in relation to a particular charity or a particular class of charities; but no such waiver may be granted in relation to any charity which is a company if:

(a) D is for the time being prohibited, by virtue of (i) a disqualification order or disqualification undertaking under the Company Directors Disqualification (Northern Ireland) Order 2002, or (ii) Article 15(1), 16(2) or 17 of that Order (undischarged bankrupts; failure to pay under administration order, etc.),from acting as director of the charity;

and

(b) leave has not been granted for D to act as director of any other company.

The form and nature of the appeals: Schedule 3 to the 2008 Act
11. The form and nature of the appeals brought by Mr McKee and Mr Burke is provided for in paragraph 1 of Schedule 3 to the 2008 Act, as follows:

(1) Except in the case of a reviewable matter (see paragraph 3) an appeal may be brought to the Tribunal against any decision, direction or order mentioned in column 1 of the Table.

(2) Such an appeal may be brought by (a) the Attorney General, or (b) any person specified in the corresponding entry in column 2 of the Table.

(3) The Commission shall be the respondent to such an appeal.

(4) In determining such an appeal the Tribunal (a) shall consider afresh the decision, direction or order appealed against, and (b) may take into account evidence which was not available to the Commission.

(5) The Tribunal may (a) dismiss the appeal, or (b) if it allows the appeal, exercise any power specified in the corresponding entry in column 3 of the Table.

12. The relevant entry in column 3 of the Table, setting out the powers of the Tribunal in the event that it allows an appeal, is as follows:

Power to (a) quash the decision and (if appropriate) remit the matter to the Commission, (b) substitute for the decision any other decision of a kind which could have been made by the Commission.

The course of the hearing and submissions: overview
13. The appeals were heard on 28 April 2016. Evidence was given by on behalf of the appellants by Mr McKee, Mr Burke and Mr Mark Cahoon. Evidence was given on behalf of the Respondent by Mr Myles McKeown. 
14. The parties made written submissions in closing. Initial closing submissions were received as follows: Respondent, 24 May 2016; Mr McKee 26 May 2016; Mr Burke 30 May 2016. Responding submissions were received as follows: Mr McKee 3 June 2016; Mr Burke 3 June 2016; the Respondent 3 June 2016. 
15. At an earlier stage in the proceedings Mr McKee and Mr Burke had raised the question of the papers in this appeal being sent to the Attorney General. Although they raised that question, they did not pursue any application in this regard, either at a case management hearing in February, or at the substantive hearing in April. 
16. However, in their closing submissions, Mr McKee and Mr Burke made fresh applications that the papers be sent to the Attorney General. Having considered that application, on 4 July 2007, the Tribunal, exercising its powers under the Charity Tribunal Rules (Northern Ireland) 2010, sent the papers to the Attorney General. The Attorney General, in response, provided a position paper dated 7 October 2016. The parties were then given the opportunity to respond to the Attorney General’s position paper, and the Appellants and the Respondent did so on 16 October 2016 and 22 October 2016. The Tribunal then met to consider its decision. 
17. The Tribunal has considered all the evidence given at the hearing, and all the submissions, even though the evidence and submissions are not referred to in their totality in this Decision. 
Preliminary Matters dealt with at hearing on 28 April 2016
18. At the outset of the Hearing, the Tribunal raised a number of preliminary matters with the parties, as follows: (i) whether papers should be sent to the Attorney General; (ii) disclosure of documents; (iii) the burden of proof in these proceedings; and (iv) the admissibility of some disputed documents. Some of these points were pursued in the parties’ closing submissions.
Attorney General

19. The question of referring the papers in the case to the Attorney General was addressed as appears at paragraph 15 above. 

Disclosure of documents

20. The Tribunal noted that there appeared to be some outstanding issues concerning disclosure of documents. However, after a little time spent debating these issues, it transpired that these issues had either been resolved or were not being pursued. Accordingly, the Tribunal was not required to make any orders in this regard. 
Burden of Proof

21. The Tribunal raised the question of where the burden of proof lay in an application such as this. Ms Bell submitted that the burden of proof was on the appellant.  She pointed out that under Section 86(4) of the 2008 Act, the Commission may grant a Waiver.  However, she compared that with Section 86(5) by which once a disqualification has been in existence for a period of 5 years, the Respondent must grant a Waiver unless there are special reasons that it should not do so.  Ms Bell indicated that there had been no other decisions on this provision anywhere else in the United Kingdom so far she was aware.  
22. In response, Mr McKee said that, as far as he was aware, there was no history of any waiver having been refused but equally, he was not aware of any other waivers having been applied for and granted. Mr McKee disagreed as to where the burden of proof lay.  He said as this was a new situation, where the law was unclear, this should be a joint approach.  
23. In any event, the Tribunal wished to ensure that Mr McKee and Mr Burke had the fullest opportunity to put before the Tribunal all the evidence and all the material which he wished the Tribunal to take into account when makings its decision. Accordingly, the Tribunal specifically enquired of Mr McKee and Mr Burke whether or not they had all evidence and material available that they wished to put before the Tribunal.  They confirmed that they believed this to be the case, and were content to proceed with the hearing. 
24. In its initial closing submissions, the Respondent repeated its contention that the burden of proof lay on the appellant. The Respondent drew attention to a discussion in the textbook, Mithani: Directors’ Disqualification (Sweet & Maxwell) – a text to which the Tribunal had itself referred at the Hearing. Ms Bell, on behalf of the Respondent, submitted that although there were differences between the two jurisdictions - i.e. as between directors’ disqualification and removal as trustee – parallels could nonetheless be drawn between them. Ms Bell submitted that where permission to act as a director is sought following the imposition of disqualification, Mithani highlights that the approach of the court when considering the burden of proof is as follows:

there is no presumption in favour of the permission being granted.  The onus is on the applicant to persuade the court, on the balance of probabilities, that it should exercise its discretion in his favour.
25. In his initial closing submission, Mr McKee cautioned the Tribunal against adopting an approach based upon a different area of law – namely directors’ disqualification. Mr McKee pointed out that those principles had not been applied by the Respondent in coming to its decision on his application for a waiver of his disqualification. In his responding closing submission, Mr McKee submitted that disqualification as a trustee has no similarity with the remedies available to a disqualified director.
26. It was in this context that the Tribunal referred the papers to the Attorney General. In his position paper, the Attorney addressed the question of the burden of proof, as follows:

[6] There is no burden of proof that applies to the discretion to waive disqualification. Neither an applicant for the exercise of a discretion nor the body exercising that discretion bears a burden of proof. A person seeking the exercise of a discretion in his or her favour bears no burden of proof, he or she simply asks for the discretion to be exercised in his or her favour. This statement of principle does not detract from the reality that the person seeking the exercise of discretion in a particular way will, as a matter of practicality, need to persuade the decision-maker that the discretion should be exercised that way. 

[7] In an appeal against a refusal by the Commission to exercise the discretion in the manner sought, a party before the Tribunal, wishing to rely on a particular fact, bears the burden of establishing that fact to the civil standard.
27. In their composite response to the Attorney General’s position paper, Mr McKee and Mr Burke stated that they concurred with the Attorney General’s position as regards the meaning of discretion and its relationship with the burden of proof.
28. In the Respondent’s response to the Attorney General’s position paper, the Respondent submitted as follows:

[15] ...the Attorney General states that a party before the Tribunal, wishing to rely on a particular fact, bears the burden of establishing (i.e. proving) that fact to the civil standard. The Attorney General further states that the person seeking the exercise of discretion in a particular way may well need to persuade the decision-maker that the discretion should be exercised that way. 

[16] The Respondent agrees and says that this position is consistent with its submissions to the Tribunal to date (see paragraph 20 of its Closing Submissions). That is, the Appellants bear the burden of proving (on the balance of probabilities) any particular facts which they say are relevant and weigh in favour of the Respondent, now the Tribunal, exercising its discretion under Section 86(4), If any such facts are so established/proved, the onus is then upon the Appellants to persuade the Respondent, now the Tribunal, to exercise the discretion under Section 86(4). Whether it is described as an onus to persuade, or a burden to prove, makes no difference. The Appellants must prove the primary facts upon which they seek to rely and must then persuade the Tribunal to exercise the discretion. This is consistent with the position in respect of disqualified company directors: see Mithani: Directors’ Disqualifications at Division VI, Chapter 3A, para 84 sub-para (2).
29. Having considered the submissions, the Tribunal has concluded that it should proceed as follows:

a. The burden of proof as to the establishing of facts which a party wishes the Tribunal to take into account when exercising its discretion, lies upon party relying upon that fact. 

b. A person wishing the Tribunal to exercise its discretion in a particular manner bears the onus of persuading the Tribunal to exercise its discretion in that manner.
Disputed documents

30. A further point considered at the Hearing was a bundle of disputed documents, being documents which Mr McKee and Mr Burke wished to have admitted in evidence and which the Respondent contended should not be admitted in to evidence because they were not relevant.
31. These documents were considered by the Tribunal, after submissions had been made by the parties. The Tribunal came to the conclusion that the documents were not relevant and made a ruling to that effect.  

Matters relevant to exercise of discretion

32. In the course of his submissions to the Tribunal, the Attorney General drew attention to the following statement of principle as to the exercise of discretion, per Lord Denning in Breen v Amalgamated Engineering Union [1971] 2 QB 175 at 190:

The discretion of a statutory body is never unfettered. It is a discretion which is to be exercised according to law. That means at least this: the statutory body must be guided by relevant considerations and not by irrelevant. If its decision is influenced by extraneous considerations which it ought not to have taken into account, then the decision cannot stand. No matter that the statutory body may have acted in good faith; nevertheless the decision will be set aside. That is established in Padfield v Minister of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food which is a landmark in modern administrative law.  

33. Mr McKee and Mr Burke agreed with this statement of principle, and the Respondent “did not take particular issue with [it]” (see paragraph 9 of the Respondent’s response to the Attorney General’s submissions).  In any event, the Tribunal readily accepts the correctness of this statement of principle as to how it should exercise its discretion in this case. 
34. With that in mind, the Tribunal has sought to distil, from the evidence and the submissions, the factors which the parties put before the Tribunal as relevant to the exercise of its discretion. 

The matters which Mr McKee and Mr Burke urge upon the Tribunal as weighing in favour of a waiver

35. Mr McKee relies on a number of matters which, he contends, weigh in favour of a waiver being granted. These matters fall under three broad headings:
a. The nature of Mr McKee’s previous conduct which led to his disqualification. 

b. The contribution which Mr McKee might make as a charity trustee.
c. Criticisms of the actions of the Respondent in the consideration of his application for a waiver. 

36. As regards the nature of Mr McKee’s conduct which led to his disqualification, Mr McKee identified the following matters:

a. There has never been any suggestion of dishonesty against Mr McKee. 

b. The context for Mr McKee’s initial disqualification was a deep and acrimonious dispute within the charity.

c. The Tribunal found that Mr McKee had committed mismanagement, but not misconduct, in the affairs of the Charity.

d. There has been no repeat of any of the matters which led to the initial disqualification. 

e. Apart from the matters which led to the initial disqualification, Mr McKee had given many years of faithful service to the charity sector.

37. As regards the contribution which Mr McKee might make as a charity trustee, Mr McKee identified the following matters:

a. It is a number of years since Mr McKee was disqualified from acting as a trustee. 

b. He is deeply interested in the charity sector.
c. Through his working life, Mr McKee has accumulated numerous skills which would be of assistance in his performing his role as a charity trustee. 

d. Mr McKee, through an organisation known as “Probity” wishes to assist charities which were either in dispute with the Respondent, or might have internal disputes.

e. Mr McKee has learnt a lesson in having been disqualified from acting as a trustee, and he presents no risk to charities. 
f. There are members of the Charity who greatly value Mr McKee’s role, and potential role, in the charity sector. 

38. As regards the criticisms of the actions of the Respondent in the consideration of his application for a waiver, Mr McKee identifies the following matters:

a. The reasons given by the Respondent for its refusal to grant a waiver are invalid: 

i. Mr McKee is entitled to disagree with the decision by which the Respondent disqualified Mr McKee from acting as a trustee, and with the decision of the Tribunal, upholding the disqualification;

ii. Mr McKee gave appropriate information to the Respondent in support of his application for a waiver. 

b. The Respondent was biased against, evasive and threatening towards Mr McKee in its consideration of his application for a waiver, and it had misled him.
c. The Respondent did not have in place a proper procedure for the consideration of applications for waiver. The procedure adopted by the Respondent, including the adoption of a step-out process, whereby officials not engaged in the case were asked to consider it, was improper. The Respondent unreasonably refused to meet him to discuss his application for a waiver. 

The matters which the Respondent urges upon the Tribunal as weighing against a waiver

39. The matters which the Respondent urges upon the Tribunal as weighing against a waiver are, essentially, two-fold:

a. The Respondent contends that Mr McKee’s refusal to accept the decisions of both the Respondent and the Charity Tribunal that led to his disqualification, and affirmation of that disqualification, presents a high risk that the reasons that led to the mismanagement decisions will be repeated; 

b. The Respondent contends that Mr McKee refused to provide all the information required to complete his application form for waiver, or to answer the Respondent’s questions in respect of his application. In particular the Respondent contends that Mr McKee refused to provide information on the charities he has been working with since his disqualification, with the result that the Respondent could not independently verify the statements made by him on his application form. 

The Tribunal’s findings

40. Consistent with the point set out at paragraph 29.a. above, the Tribunal now sets out its findings on the factual aspects of the parties’ contentions. 

Matters which were either agreed or not disputed

41. The Tribunal finds that the following matters were either agreed or not disputed:

a. It is over three years since the Respondent made its order, disqualifying Mr McKee from acting as a trustee. It is around two and a half years since the Tribunal upheld the order disqualifying Mr McKee from acting as a trustee. These are matters which are incapable of dispute.
b. There has never been any suggestion of dishonesty against Mr McKee. This was recorded in the Tribunal’s decision of July 2014, as being the position at that date, and no suggestion to the contrary has been made since.

c. There has been no repeat of any of the matters which led to the initial disqualification: no suggestion to the contrary was made before the Tribunal.

d. The context for Mr McKee’s initial disqualification was a deep and acrimonious dispute within the charity. This was recorded in the Tribunal’s decision of July 2014, as being the position at that date, and no suggestion to the contrary has been made since.

e. The Tribunal found that Mr McKee had committed mismanagement, but not misconduct, in the affairs of the Charity. This was recorded in the Tribunal’s decision of July 2014.

f. Apart from the matters which led to the initial disqualification, Mr McKee had given many years of faithful service to the charity sector.

42. In short, the Tribunal finds that Mr McKee has established the matters, upon which he relies, as set out at set out at paragraph 36 and 37.a. above and these are thus to be taken into account by the Tribunal when it is exercising its discretion in these Appeals.
Matters in dispute or not agreed
43. The Tribunal now turns to address a number of assertions made by Mr McKee, which were either disputed or were not agreed by the Respondent. These comprise the matters set out at paragraph 37.b. to f. above (Mr McKee’s potential contribution to the charity sector), and at paragraph 38 (Mr McKee’s criticisms of the Respondent).
Mr McKee’s potential contribution to the charity sector
44. Mr McKee sought to substantiate his potential contribution to the charity sector by providing evidence from a number of sources – from himself, from Mr Burke, and from Mr Cahoon – about a range of matters.
Mr McKee’s interest in the charity sector

Mr McKee’s evidence

45. As regards the evidence from Mr McKee himself, after being sworn in, he adopted his appeal form, his opening written statement and his witness statement as his evidence-in-chief. 
46. In the course of his evidence, Mr McKee referred to a document entitled “Personal Statement of Suitability to be a Charity Trustee”, which the Tribunal considers encapsulates Mr McKee’s evidence on this point. Given the central importance of this personal statement to Mr McKee’s case, the Tribunal considers it important to set out a substantial element of it, as follows:
Personal Statement of Suitability (Trustee of Charities Generally)

I appreciate and I have personal experience of huge benefits and rewards in being a Trustee.  For me it was a life changing experience and a route to a new career path.  Northern Ireland Charities are crying out for Trustee talent and many want to attract Trustees from different backgrounds to inject some energy and fresh ideas into their Boards.  Part of the skill set needed of a Trustee is to be able to do their homework in respect of any anticipated appointment, and be aware of the challenges and opportunities first, before taking on a Trusteeship.  From personal experience and before taking on any Trusteeship I will:

1. Be clear about the roles and responsibilities I am taking on. In particular, I will research, who makes what decisions? Where does the power lie, with the Chief Executive or the Board? 

2. What is the leadership style within the organisation? 

3. What is its strategic direction and business objectives? Is there a plan in place? Who drives it? 

4. What are the Charities resources? Including everything from the land that owns intellectual property and trademarks. 

5. What are the training and induction processes for new Trustees?

6. Make myself sufficiently aware of the governance document containing rules for Trustees.

7. Find out what the time commitments and manage unrealistic expectations at the outset.

8. Put the Organisation first if there is a crisis or urgent need. I will put the Charity before other commitments. 

9. I will understand who the Beneficiaries are, as this is where the Organisation’s loyalties lie. 

10. If I disagree with any of the collective Board decisions that are made, I will register my consent. If I am not at a meeting I will read the minutes and make sure that I have my say as it is my duty and responsibility. As a Trustee I will respect and value diversity.  I understand that an effective Board will need a range of skills.  I understand the attributes and personal experience that will enable it to work towards the aims and objectives of the voluntary organisation.  I understand the skills, diversity and experience a Board needs will come from a wide range of perspectives including business skills, service user experience, social or family experience, general interests or commitments to the goals of the Organisation.  As a potential Trustee I am acutely aware that funding is the biggest short term challenge for the sector of this year.  This I will help address as a Trustee I will drive and encourage innovation by:

(i) Setting and maintaining the Charity’s vision, mission and values;

(ii) Help and develop strategy;

(iii) Establish and monitor policies; 

(iv) Set out employment procedures;

(v) Ensure accountability;

(vi) Ensure compliance with the law;

(vii) Maintain proper physical oversight;

(viii) Select, manage and support the Chief Executive;

(ix) Respect the role of staff;

(x) Maintain effective Board performance;

(xi) Promote the Organisation;

(xii) I am committed to the objectives of Charities generally. 

I have read the Charity Commission’s Booklet the Essential Trustee and understand the roles and responsibilities I am taking on in becoming a Trustee, and agree to devote the necessary time and effort to my Trusteeship.  I have no conflicts of interest with those Charities generally either in person or through family or business connections, except those which I will formally declare if they become apparent.  Where a conflict of interest arises in any Charity I become I Trustee of, I will abstain myself from any meeting or part of a meeting that the conflict may become an issue, unless requested to remain, I will not vote on any matter in which the conflict applies.  I will notify the Charity of any relevant changes to my interests.

Mr Burke’s evidence

47. The Tribunal also heard evidence from Mr Burke as regards Mr McKee’s contribution to the charity sector. Mr McKee had suggested to Mr Burke that he might find volunteering beneficial. Mr McKee had trained Mr Burke as coxswain and that he had become a full time station officer. Mr Burke described Mr McKee him as “the backbone of the operation”. Mr Burke said that Mr McKee was very well thought of on all shores of the Lough. He said Mr McKee had been a trustee of the Charity for many years and had held lots of positions.  He was able to mentor people. Ms Bell, in her cross-examination of Mr Burke with respect to these matters, questioned whether Mr Burke had in fact been a member of the Charity.
Mr Cahoon’s evidence

48. Mr Mark Cahoon gave evidence on behalf of Mr McKee. His adopted his witness statement. In that statement, he was complimentary about Mr McKee’s contribution to the Charity. He referred to the countless hours that Mr McKee had put in to the Charity. Mr McKee had tried to constantly improve the Charity and was a role model for many. Mr McKee was diligent. 

49. Mr Cahoon was then cross-examined by Ms Bell who suggested that the contents of his Statement were simply it comprised his opinion of Mr McKee and Mr Cahoon agreed that it was. Ms Bell put it to Mr Cahoon that there was no evidence that the Charity wanted Mr McKee back.  He said that half of the Charity would want him back. 

Tribunal’s finding as to Mr McKee’s interest in the charity sector
50. Having regard to the evidence given by Mr McKee, Mr Burke and Mr Cahoon, the Tribunal finds that Mr McKee clearly has an interest in the charity sector. Indeed, there was little challenge to the evidence given by the witnesses on this aspect. Further, as the Tribunal found in its decision of July 2014, Mr McKee gave many years’ faithful service to the Charity. 
51. Accordingly, Mr McKee’s interest in the charity sector and Mr McKee’s commitment to the Charity should be taken into account by the Tribunal when it is exercising its discretion in these Appeals.

Mr McKee’s skills 

52. Mr McKee gave evidence about the skills which he has, and which would assist in him being a trustee of a charity. Mr McKee emphasised his skills with respect to advocacy. Mr McKee said he had been a Senior Divisional Shop Steward at Granada, working for a trade union. Granada had had 20,000 employees. He worked for Granada for 16 years, during which time he was promoted. He then left the role of Senior Divisional Steward.  Mr McKee said his advocacy involved training in London. He said he was involved in disciplinary proceedings within the company, representing those who had been the subject of disciplinary charges.  Mr McKee left Granada in 2002. 
53. From 2002 Mr McKee had been working for Southern Regional College which at that time was known as Upper Bann Institute in Portadown. In that time, he had become an Administrator working in the School of Construction and Engineering, assisting the Head of School.  It is a full time position and has been such from 2002.  There was no challenge by the Respondent to any of this evidence.

54. As noted above, Mr Burke and Mr Cahoon gave evidence about the leadership and mentoring role which Mr McKee had performed when a trustee of the Charity. 

Tribunal’s findings as to Mr McKee’s skills

55. Having regard to the foregoing, the Tribunal finds that Mr McKee does have experience of representing employees in employment situations; that his current work involves administration; and that he has encouraged people to become involved in the Charity. 

56. Accordingly, Mr McKee’s skills should be taken into account by the Tribunal when it is exercising its discretion in these Appeals.

“Probity”

57. One of the factors which Mr McKee wishes the Tribunal to take into account when exercising its discretion in his appeal is his role in the entity known as “Probity”.
Mr McKee’s evidence about “Probity”
58. Mr McKee told the Tribunal that “Probity” was an entity which arose from his having been involved with one of the first two or three charities that had had any engagement with the Respondent. Mr McKee said that he and others had defended themselves in proceedings concerning the Respondent. He said that this was a challenging exercise and they had no legal background. They had had no experience in respect of researching the law or the rules.  He said that when he engaged in this work, he found it was fulfilling: there was the kernel of an argument which then Mr McKee delivered and that he would succeed or fail and this was quite interesting. 
59. As to “Probity” itself, Mr McKee said it was a loose amalgam of people: different individuals who had different skills. The mission for “Probity” was that they would never charge any charity for any services rendered. It was not registered with the Respondent although a number of MLAs supported it.  Mr McKee planned to make an application to the Department for Social Development for funding.  He said that he and Mr Burke are both passionate and wanted to work full time in this field.
60. Mr McKee then turned to talk about actually going into a charity to work with Probity.  He said that some charities were in conflict with the Respondent and they were confused with respect to the Respondent’s role.  He said that the Respondent had not used its regulatory authority extensively before 2009.  Mr McKee said this was a unique area, involving the making of new decisions and one had to mindful of that.  Mr McKee said that people came to him for advice with a dispute. Often, they had no money. Mr McKee said that “Probity” would be “a softer option”. He said that “Probity” was complimentary to the Respondent: “Probity” has to have common ground with the Respondent. 
61. The Tribunal asked Mr McKee what he would actually be doing as an individual.  Mr McKee said he would be going into a charity, possibly as a trustee, using his experience of conflict with groups.  This would assist the charities in being certain as to where they were headed.  He said that disputes did not need to go that far. Mr McKee said that he had experience of charities thinking of the Respondent “who are they to push us around”.  Mr McKee said that there was a role in order to explain matters to charities; to explain to the trustees that they are there by the grace of the beneficiaries.  He said that some old guards might not engage and they needed to appreciate there was a need to change.  
62. The Tribunal asked Mr McKee to elaborate upon the specifics on what he was doing and intending to do. In this respect he said that the interactions between himself and any third parties are “absolutely confidential” as between him and them. Mr McKee said confidence was key in moving forward.  He said he would love to tell the Tribunal.  He said that the Respondent knows who they are in contact with though not at what level.  Mr McKee said that he had set out his stall in the bundles.  Mr McKee said that he was involved with other individuals.  
63. In response to the question from the Tribunal as to whether there were any specific matters that Mr McKee wished to put forward as a reason for his waiver application being successful, Mr McKee said that he had recognised that he would often see a situation where the board of a charity seemed to have their minds closed to the regulators.  He suggested that he could adopt a “soft approach”. Mr McKee would come in and try to fix things.
Mr Burke’s evidence about “Probity”

64. Mr Burke also gave evidence about “Probity.” He described it as a charity advocacy service.  Mr Burke said that the charity sector needs this type of service. Mr Burke said that “Probity” aspired to become a charity.  It would give free advice. He said no one has a unique perspective in this more than Mr McKee.  He said he would make an excellent Trustee.
65. Mr Burke said that he and Mr McKee offered a unique insight into the Respondent. Mr Burke said that there would be no need to go elsewhere given the skills of Mr McKee and himself. 
66. In her cross-examination of Mr Burke, Ms Bell put it to Mr Burke that “Probity” is not a Charity, and there was nothing preventing Mr McKee from being a Board Member or decision-maker on “Probity”.  Mr Burke said that Probity aspired to be a charity, but it is not a charity at this point in time.  Ms Bell put it to Mr Burke that Mr McKee was not prevented from advising or advocating or mentoring.  Mr Burke accepted that he was not prevented from performing certain activities, but he said that they aspired to help charities in trouble.

Tribunal’s findings as to “Probity”

67. Having regard to the evidence before the Tribunal, the Tribunal makes the following findings with respect to “Probity”:

a. “Probity” is not a charity.

b. Mr McKee and Mr Burke aspire to “Probity” becoming a charity. 
c. The idea behind “Probity” is that it will be a vehicle whereby Mr McKee and Mr Burke can draw on their own experiences in order to assist charities in their relations with the Respondent, by way of a free-of-charge service. 

d. Despite being asked to do so, neither Mr McKee nor Mr Burke gave the Tribunal any information whatsoever as to the other charities with which they have been involved, or with which they may become involved. 
e. Accordingly, the Tribunal does not have before it any evidence which allows it to draw any conclusions as to the actual activities of “Probity”. All the Tribunal has been provided with is a general description of activity. 
68. These are matters that should be taken into account by the Tribunal when it is considering how it should exercise its discretion. 

“Lessons learnt” by Mr McKee – risk of future mismanagement
69. In the course of his written opening statement (which, it will be recalled, Mr McKee adopted as part of his evidence) Mr McKee said as follows:
Have I learned my lesson? Yes, I can sincerely say that I have learned a lesson, but not because of any assistance of the Commission. I have patiently learned charity law and the Commissions’ procedures. Will I ever repeat mistakes of the past? No, I can sincerely say that the knowledge I now have, not learned as I should as a result of regulatory guidance from a fair and proportionate regulator but through necessity and as a consequence of my involvement with the Commission, their processes and practices. I now consider myself as a fully informed potential Trustee.

70. Mr McKee’s evidence in this regard was strongly contested by the Respondent. Mr Myles McKeown, Head of Compliance and Enquiries within the Respondent, provided a statement to the Tribunal. This witness statement set out the procedures and reasoning of the Respondent, and will be considered further below. However, in broad terms, the procedure adopted by the Respondent in the consideration of Mr McKee’s application for a general waiver, as described by Mr McKeown, entailed four stages: (i) the application stage; (ii) a consideration by a Ms Fiona Muldoon; (iii) a “step-out” process, where the application was considered by persons within the Respondent, not otherwise involved in the case; and (iv) Mr McKeown’s decision on the application.
71. In his witness statement, Mr McKeown said (amongst other matters) as follows:
4.7 Ms Muldoon’s evaluation concluded that

· Mr Trevor McKee indicated that the Commission “may make a decision on the information that it has”;

· Mr Trevor McKee had noted his interaction with and services to charities, but did not say who those charities were. Therefore the Commission was unable to verify his statements.

·  Fundamentally, Mr Trevor McKee has stated that he does not accept the findings of the Commission or the findings of the Charity Tribunal. Ms Muldoon noted that that was Mr Trevor McKee’s prerogative; however such statements do not demonstrate an acceptance of wrongdoing in the past and a willingness to move forward. Moreover, this position highlights a high risk that the issues, which led to a determination of mismanagement, will be repeated.
4.8 Ms Muldoon therefore recommended that the application for a waiver should not be granted for the following reasons:
(i) Mr Trevor McKee’s refusal to accept the decision of both the Commission and the Charity Tribunal presents a real risk that the actions that led to his disqualification may be repeated;

(ii) Mr Trevor McKee’s refusal to present any further evidence in support of his application meant that there was a lack of evidence to demonstrate a change in circumstances since his disqualification. 

4.9 On 27 July 2015, I reviewed the recommendation made by Ms Muldoon and I agreed with the findings in this case, concluding that it was appropriate to not grant a waiver to Mr Trevor McKee. 

72. Mr McKeown further stated as follows at paragraphs 6.2 and 6.3 of his witness statement:
6.2 In respect of the first reason, Mr Trevor McKee confirms that he does not accept the decision of the Commission or the Charity Tribunal and proffers that this is his right. 

The Commission accepts that this is Mr Trevor McKee’s right. However, in taking this position, Mr Trevor McKee is demonstrating that he does not accept the findings that led to the determination of mismanagement. This position presents a high risk that the issues which led to the disqualification could be repeated. 

In these circumstances the Commission concluded that there was no evidence to suggest that Mr Trevor McKee had learned from his past conduct; therefore, the risk of Mr Trevor McKee repeating his past conduct remained high. As a result, the Commission concluded it would not be in the interests of the charitable sector to grant a waiver to Mr McKee. 

6.3 In respect of the second reason, Mr Trevor McKee has not provided any supporting documentation to demonstrate that he has changed his circumstances, as required through this waiver application process. Mr Trevor McKee continues to provide details of the charities he has been working with. 

I encouraged Mr Trevor McKee to supply the outstanding information on several occasions and he consistently refused to do so. 
Had Mr Trevor McKee provided details of the charities he claimed to have worked with, the Commission may have been able to evidence a positive contribution to the charitable sector.

Without this evidence, the Commission concluded that there is no evidence of any change in circumstances since his disqualification. 
73. In the course of his evidence, Mr McKeown referred the Tribunal to Ms Muldoon’s report. This is an important document, and the Tribunal draws attention to the following aspects:

Circumstances of Disqualification:

Mr McKee has stated repeatedly that he does not accept his removal by the Commission or the decision of the Charity Tribunal. … It is difficult therefore to consider how Mr McKee is able to demonstrate that his actions were wrong and that they will not be repeated. Mr McKee has been asked to explain his comment further but has provided no further explanation.

Risk to the charity sector generally of the waiver is for charities generally

Mr McKee has provided no assurance that his prior actions were wrong and will not be repeated. It is therefore difficult to be satisfied that any charity that Mr McKee may be involved with in the future, would not be at risk of mismanagement. There is little evidence of unique skills that Mr McKee possesses that outweigh any risks associated with a waiver in this case.

Whether the applicant is likely to receive or have custody of charitable funds or property: Set out nature of charity property/funds assets and risk to charity of applicant receiving same

Not known at this point. As the application is for charities generally then there is the possibility that Mr McKee could have custody of charity funds or property. The mismanagement of charity funds and property was a key factor in both the Commission’s and the Charity Tribunal’s decision to remove Mr McKee.

Time since disqualification

Mr McKee was removed on 15 August 2013 – it is nearly 2 years since his disqualification 

Changes of circumstances since disqualification and why it is considered that there is no risk of history repeating itself

Mr McKee has stated that he is a very capable trustee and that the events leading to his disqualification were unique in place and at a time when the charity was embroiled in a deep and acrimonious dispute. Mr McKee states that this context no longer exists. 

However, Mr McKee provides no evidence of any other change in his circumstances since his removal. He has stated that he has helped other charities which are subject to the inquiry of the Commission. He has not provided details of who these charities are.

Mr McKee has said that his involvement has been advisory, supportive and pastoral. He has provided advice on charity law, how charities may avoid legal action by compliance with the Commission and how charity funds may be preserved. He has also stated that he has provided advice on rectifying governance concerns within charities before they became a problem and has provided strategic thinking and problem solving advice for charities in difficulties. 

There has been no evidence provided in the application as to why Mr McKee must be a trustee of these charities and cannot continue to advise. Furthermore, Mr McKee has refused to provide details of the charities he has been advising and wishes to become a trustee of, therefore the Commission cannot obtain verification of the statements made in his application or obtain references from these charities to support his application. 

Where an applicant has been removed from a charity and is not applying for a specific waiver – any views from trustees of the charity from which the applicant was removed on their dealings with the applicant since their disqualification 

Mr McKee has asked the Commission not to contact the charity (Lough Neagh Rescue – LNR) as ‘the dispute that gave rise to his disqualification was deep and acrimonious. It therefore follows that their opinion may be biased against me.”

This somewhat contradicts what Mr McKee has stated earlier – i.e. that this context no longer exists. 

Nonetheless I have chosen not to contact the charity. The charity has copied the Commission into correspondence between their legal representative and Mr McKee. From that correspondence it is clear that the relationship between Mr McKee and the charity is not ideal.

Benefits to the charity, class of charity or charities generally: 

Mr McKee had been involved with the board of LNR for some considerable time and therefore he will be able to bring considerable experience to charities. However, his failure to accept the findings of mismanagement by the Commission and then by the Charity Tribunal is of concern.

Specific qualities/skills/services that only applicant can bring to the trustee body

Mr McKee’s statement on his pastoral and experience sharing roles with charities could have been considered positively if it had been supported with evidence. However, I have not been presented with any evidence of how this would necessitate his status as a trustee – this support does not need to be specifically confined to being a trustee. 

Has the applicant ever been associated with any other charity subject to a CCNI enquiry.

Mr McKee has said that he has been associated with charities subject to investigation by the Commission but he has not detailed who this charity (or charities) is and the Commission does not have sufficient independent evidence to verify any association with a particular charity. 

Evaluation and Recommendation

Mr McKee has indicated that the Commission ‘may take a decision on the information it has’. As detailed above, Mr McKee has noted his interaction and services to charities, however Mr McKee will not provide any details about those charities therefore the Commission is unable to independently verify Mr McKee’s statements or assess whether there is a specific requirement for trusteeship. 

Fundamentally, Mr McKee has stated that he does not accept the findings of the Commission or the findings of the Charity Tribunal. This is Mr McKee’s prerogative, however such statements do not demonstrate an acceptance of wrongdoing in the past and a willingness to move forward. Indeed his position on this results in a high risk that the issues that led to the determination of mismanagement will be repeated. 

I therefore recommend that Mr McKee’s application for waiver is not granted for the following reasons:

(i) Mr McKee’s refusal to accept the decision of both the Commission and the Charity Tribunal presents a real risk that the actions that lead [sic] to his removal may be repeated;

(ii) Mr McKee’s refusal to present any further evidence in support of his application means that there is a lack of reliable evidence to demonstrate a change in circumstances since removal.  

74. The considerations and conclusions of Mr McKeown also appear in this report, as follows:

I agree with the findings in this case. Mr McKee has been asked repeatedly for the information requested through his application form. Without independent verification the Commission cannot support Mr McKee’s stated activities with charities since his disqualification. 

Mr McKee’s statements on the Commission’s decision to remove him and his further statement that ‘I have studied the Tribunal decision and am content that I disagree with its ultimate findings…’ means that there is a high risk that the issues which led to Mr McKee being removed from the Charity Lough Neagh Rescue will be repeated. 

Consequently there is insufficient evidence in Mr McKee’s application to support the waiver of his disqualification…
75. It may be seen both from Mr McKeown’s witness statement and from Ms Muldoon’s report, that the Respondent considered that it had repeatedly asked Mr McKee to provide information about his activities, but he had refused to provide it.
76. In this regard, and because the course of the correspondence is relevant to other criticisms made by Mr McKee of the Respondent’s procedures, the Tribunal has considered evidence with respect to the exchanges between Mr McKee and the Respondent, as appears from the following extracts:
a. In an email to the Respondent dated 12 November 2014, Mr McKee referred to “my ongoing work with charities and in support of charities generally”. It was in this email that Mr McKee also made the comment that he did not accept the Respondent’s action in removing him as a trustee.

b. In an email to Mr McKee dated 14 November 2014, Mr McKeown asked Mr McKee “to explain, in detail, what change there has been in your circumstances, since the date of your Order, which would allow the Commission to consider waiving your disqualification”. The email asked Mr McKee “to focus on the reasons for your removal, including the determination of the Charity Tribunal, and for you to demonstrate the change that the Commission should consider in this process.” With regard to Mr McKee’s non-acceptance of the Respondent’s actions, the email also asked Mr McKee “to explain how this statement demonstrates an acceptance of the Commission’s Order and the Tribunal’s report? Your answer to this may be included in the consideration of your application to waive your removal as a trustee”.

c. On 14 November 2014, Mr McKee responded, asking for the Respondent’s general policy on waivers and saying that once he understood what the criteria was and what the Respondent intended to consider, he would “make additional submissions of information not as yet requested to support the application.”

d. On 17 November 2014, Mr McKeown responded saying that “a proper procedure is always applied by the Commission”; “the information I have requested from you is the first step in this procedure”; “it is your choice to comply or not, however I must advise you that a failure to comply would result in any request for a waiver being denied”; and “you should only make reference to those issues in respect of demonstrating a change in your circumstances.”

e. On 17 November 2014, Mr McKee repeated his request for the Respondent’s “General Policy Regarding Waivers”.

f. On 18 November 2014, Mr McKeown responded saying that “Your request for the Commission’s policy regarding waivers is considered a FOI request and you will receive correspondence on this separately”. Mr McKeown repeated the contents of his email of 14 November 2014, and said he was willing to allow Mr McKee extra time to provide the information. 

g. On 25 November 2014, Mr McKee responded, noting that the Respondent had neither confirmed nor denied the existence of a General Policy Regarding Waivers; that the withholding of such a policy and the failure to confirm or deny its existence was “evasive and confusing”; and that “your conversion of my request for a document that help my application into an FOI request is confusing, unhelpful and detrimental to the charity sector generally.”

h. On 28 November 2014, Mr McKeown acknowledged Mr McKee’s email and repeated his request for the information he had earlier sought.

i. On 30 November 2014, Mr McKee said he had “fears of the possibility of a fair hearing”. He also referred to a concern about a breach of the Data Protection Act.

j. On 5 February 2015, Mr McKeown wrote an email to Mr McKee in the following terms: 

I note that you have not communicated further on your application to consider waiving your disqualification as a trustee. I have therefore considered your application to be withdrawn.

k. That same day, Mr McKee emailed Mr McKeown to say that the matter was with the Attorney General. The next day, 6 February 2015, Mr McKee emailed Mr McKeown saying that although he had been “refused access to information regarding CCNI policies, I am in a position to apply for waiver from disqualification to serve as a trustee”. He went on to say:

At the outset, and for clarity, I have already informed the Charity Commission and the Minister that I have been engaged with supporting charities generally. 

l. On 12 February 2015, Mr McKeown sent an email to Mr McKee saying that he was treating the application as having begun in November 2014, and asking “that you also answer the specific questions already out to you in our earlier correspondence regarding this matter.” Mr McKeown went on:

In respect of your statement “At the outset, and for clarity, I have already informed the Charity Commission and the Minister that I have been engaged with supporting charities generally.” I remind you that I have asked you for a list of the charities that you are involved with and supporting letters from those charities. Finally please avail of the guidance available on the Commission’s website regarding the applications for waiver process. 

m. On 15 April 2015, Mr Muldoon emailed Mr McKee, referring to and rejecting his request that the requirement for a Disclosure and Barring Certificate (“DBS Certificate”) (which relates to suitability to work with (inter alia) vulnerable people) be set aside, and saying further:

Additionally, I am aware that my colleague Myles McKeown requested further information on 12 February 2015 specifically a list of charities you are involved with and supporting letters from those charities, this remains outstanding.

n. On 16 April 2015, Mr McKee responded by email which included the following:

I have informed the Commission that I am engaged with other charities including Lough Neagh Rescue of which I am a member. I have informed the Commission and the Ministers Office on a number of occasions of this fact. As a consequence, and as I suspect the Commission’s and the Private Office’s own dissemination of this information to affected organisations, some charities have contacted me and I provide them with the service I have already detailed to you. As you might appreciate this contact is on a private and confidential basis. I have detailed my reasoning within my application. Mr McKeown’s request that I provide supporting letters from these charities is not reasonable at this time, although I may be in a position to supply letters of this type in the future. I would ask you to use your discretion in this matter.

o. On 5 May 2015, the Respondent wrote to Mr McKee, recounting that it had “requested information pertaining to your application on 14 November 2014, 18 November 2014, 28 November 2014, 12 February 2015 and 15 April 2015, which you have failed to supply.” This letter said that Mr McKee’s application was deficient in the following respects:

i. No DBS certificate had been supplied;

ii. No information had been provided about another charity, subject to a Charity Commission inquiry, with which Mr McKee was involved;

iii. No detailed explanation of Mr McKee’s change in circumstances had been provided;

iv. No explanation of Mr McKee’s statement that he did not accept the Respondent’s removal decision, had been provided;

v. A list of charities that Mr McKee is involved with and supporting letters had not been provided.

p. Mr McKee responded by email dated 15 May 2015. He said that as he worked in a further education college and had an AccessNI certificate, a DBS Certificate was unnecessary. As regards his role in other charities, Mr McKee said as follows:

My response as previously given is my position. Please set this aside. As you know I am formally engaged in helping charities with whom there exists a confidentiality understanding. The information is confidential, but you may wish to read any testimonials or expressions of support or thanks as they appear. At this point it is pertinent to inform you that I may shortly wish to make my services available to charities generally as a trustee, your frustration of my application is prejudicing my position and I would encourage you to expedite a decision on my application…

The Commission will agree that I am potential trustee of considerable experience and honesty, as recorded by the Tribunal. Please note that my application is now extant 185 days, this delay is manifestly unreasonable. Your delay is prejudicing my charitable contributions to the people of Northern Ireland. 

Mr McKee also asked to have a meeting with the Respondent. 

q. On 22 May 2015, Mr McKeown wrote to Mr McKee. He said that he would accept a valid AccessNI certificate instead of a DBS certificate. Mr McKeown also encouraged the information earlier sought to be provided, and warning that “an inference may be drawn from your refusal to provide requested information.” Not having received a reply, Mr McKeown sent a reminder to Mr McKee on 23 June 2015.

r. On 29 June 2015, Mr McKee sent an email to Mr McKeown which included the following:

…I have refused nothing, but simply asked the Commission to use its discretion. This is a fair and proportionate request when asked in the context and history of my application. It would be procedurally unfair for the Commission to draw any negative inference from my request by me to ask for discretion. The Commission know to what extent I have been engaging with charities, they also know that it would be inappropriate for me to disclose any information that might be regarded as private and confidential. 

I believe the Commission may take a decision on the information it has. Considering it is now 228 days since my initial application, it be fair to ask that your decisions is made within the next week. 

s. On 3 July 2015, Mr McKee further emailed Mr McKeown as follows:

The wording on your last and previous correspondence is a cause for concern, and seems to indicate that a decision has already been made. I have addressed the fact that you might wish to draw an inference from my request for discretion in previous correspondence. I would encourage you to reflect carefully on this decision, for the avoidance of doubt, no negative inference should be drawn from any request of mine to act for discretion. I need not remind the Commission that such a decision would be fundamentally irrational, illogical and Wednesbury unreasonable, and would fly in the face of natural justice, this point is made stronger by the Commission’s refusal to meet, and the fact that it could potentially could be 272 days since my application was made.

t. On 15 July 2015, Mr McKeown wrote to Mr McKee, seeking to reassure him that a decision had not already been made on his case, and saying that a meeting was not necessary, as the application form process had been designed to obtain all necessary information. 

Mr McKee’s evidence to the Tribunal on the question of provision of information

77. In her cross-examination of Mr McKee, Ms Bell put it to Mr McKee that the Respondent wrote to him on a number of occasions looking for information.  Mr McKee accepted that that was true, but he said he had given answers. Mr McKee said that his answers were clear, and insofar as the Respondent considered them unclear, they should have had a meeting to discuss.

78. Ms Bell also put it to Mr McKee that the information he had given not included contact details or names.  Mr McKee said this was because of the sensitivity of his dealings in this matter, and he said that the request should have been set aside. 
79. In re-examination, Mr McKee said that he could not tell the Tribunal everything he would like to tell them because of the confidential nature of what he does with “Probity”.  He deals with discretion.  There are things he would like to tell, and to tell everything he knows.  But he said that there was regulatory creep.  Mr McKee said that there was no procedure in place, there was no remedy and therefore there was no right. 

Mr McKeown’s evidence to the Tribunal on the question of provision of information

80. Mr McKeown’s evidence comprised an adoption of his witness statement and associated documents, set out above.

Discussion of “lessons learned” and risk of future mismanagement 

81. As appears above, both Mr McKee and the Respondent have to some extent framed this aspect of their evidence and submissions with respect to whether Mr McKee had (to paraphrase a little) “learned his lesson”, arising from his having been disqualified by the Respondent and then that disqualification having been upheld by the Tribunal. The Tribunal considers that rather than looking at this as a question of lessons learned – or not learned – the question is really one of an assessment of risk of a repeat of mismanagement in the affairs of a charity. 
82. Mr McKee asserts that there will be not, as he puts it “repeat the mistakes he made before”. The Tribunal has recorded that there is not and there never has been any suggestion of dishonesty on the part of Mr McKee. In those circumstances, it is right that the Tribunal attaches weight to Mr McKee’s own assertions, when evaluating whether he might present any risk to charities in the future, where he to be permitted to act as a trustee. 
83. However, the Tribunal is mindful that the Respondent’s objectives include the public confidence objective – which is to increase public trust and confidence in charities – and the accountability objective – which is to enhance the accountability of charities to donors, beneficiaries and the general public. Further, the Respondent’s general duties include a duty, so far as is reasonably to perform its functions and to act in a way which is compatible with the encouragement of all forms of charitable giving, and voluntary participation in charity work.
84. Given the important aspect of role of the Respondent and the Tribunal with respect to the public interest in the proper operation and management of charities, the Tribunal considers it proper and reasonable that the assessment of risk to the public interest might not be satisfied or fulfilled by reference to the subjective assessment of any one person. On the contrary, a broader, evidence-based approach to assessment of risk may be required. 
85. In a similar vein, there has been debate between the parties and the Attorney General as to whether there is (or is not) any significance to be attached to the fact that Mr McKee had not accepted either the decision of the Respondent to disqualify him or the decision of this Tribunal, upholding the disqualification. 
86. As appears from the submissions of the parties, and from the Attorney General, it seems to be common case that Mr McKee has the right not to accept the decisions which have been made in respect of him by the Respondent and the Tribunal. The question therefore is whether, notwithstanding that he has the right to refuse to accept the decisions, nonetheless the exercise of that right by Mr McKee should be taken into account when considering the question of risk. 
87. It seems to be the case that the Attorney General (as per paragraphs 22 and 23 of his submission) accepts that, in principle, the non-acceptance of decisions may be a factor to be considered when assessing risk – however the Attorney General suggests that the risk was not correctly assessed, and indeed was overstated, in this case. 
88. In attempting to address this question, the Tribunal has considered what the position would be if (in distinction to Mr McKee’s case) an appellant were contending that his or her positive acceptance of the Respondent’s and the Tribunal’s earlier decision should weigh in favour of granting a waiver. Without giving any binding indication as to how it might act in such a case, the Tribunal considers that even in a case such as that, it may well expect to see adopted the broader, evidence-based approach, referred to at paragraph 84. above, in order to allow a proper and reasonable assessment of risk to be made – again, all in the public interest. 
89. In terms of that broader, evidence-based approach, the Tribunal should not be prescriptive about such matters, as every case will be different. However, the Tribunal considers that very often an appellant should present evidence which goes beyond his or her subjective assertion of his or her position; and the Respondent should not attach undue weight to the appellant’s subjective statement of his or her position. 
90. The Tribunal reminded itself of the findings which it made in Mr McKee’s earlier appeal, aspects of which have been set out at paragraph 6 above. Again, without unduly summarising the findings made by the Tribunal at that time, it can be seen that a key consideration for the Tribunal in upholding Mr McKee’s removal as a trustee was how he had conducted himself with regard to (i) the authorised decision-making organs within the Charity and (ii) the management of the Charity’s assets. 
91. The Tribunal did not receive any evidence as to how Mr McKee had conducted himself with regard to any other charities or other bodies. 
The Tribunal’s findings as to risk of future mismanagement
92. Taking all the foregoing into account, the Tribunal finds as follows:
a. Mr McKee asserts that he will not repeat the conduct which led to his disqualification. That is an assertion to which the Tribunal should attach weight.
b. When considering the risk of future mismanagement, the Respondent attached considerable weight to the fact that Mr McKee did not accept the decisions of the Respondent and the Tribunal’s decision. 

c. Indeed, the Respondent appears to have been unduly influenced by the question of whether Mr McKee expressly accepted that he had done wrong.

d. Further, the Respondent variously described Mr McKee’s failure to accept the decisions of the Respondent as evidence of a “high risk” of a repeat of the mismanagement, and as evidence of a “real risk” of a repeat of the mismanagement. 
e. Mr McKee did not give any evidence to the Tribunal – despite being asked and challenged to do so – as to the detail of his current activities or his intended activities – in the charity sector. Rather, his evidence was of a general nature.
f. Mr McKee did not give any evidence to the Tribunal as to his actions with respect to (i) the authorised decision-making organs within any charity or other organisation, or (ii) his work or role with the assets of any organisation.
Mr McKee’s contention that there are members of the Charity who greatly value Mr McKee’s role, and potential role, in the charity sector
93. Mr McKee gave evidence – supported by Mr Burke and Mr Cahoon – that there are members of the Charity who greatly value Mr McKee’s role, and potential role, in the charity sector. The Respondent challenged this evidence to some extent. In this regard, see the record of the evidence at paragraph 56 above. 
94. Having regard to the evidence, the Tribunal finds that there are some members of the Charity who value Mr McKee’s role, and potential role, in the charity sector. 
95. This is a matter that should be taken into account by the Tribunal when it is considering how it should exercise its discretion. 
Mr McKee’s criticisms of the actions of the Respondent in the consideration of his application for a waiver
96. The Tribunal turns now to address Mr McKee’s criticisms of the actions of the Respondent in the consideration of his application for a waiver.
Mr McKee’s criticisms of the reasons given by the Respondent for its refusal to grant a waiver are invalid
97. This relates, again, to the two reasons given by the Respondent for not granting a waiver i.e. Mr McKee’s non-acceptance of the decisions of the Respondent and the Tribunal and Mr McKee’s alleged failure to give information, despite being requested to do so. Mr McKee’s position on these points, respectively, is that he was and is entitled to disagree with the decision by which the Respondent disqualified Mr McKee from acting as a trustee, and with the decision of the Tribunal, upholding the disqualification; and he says he gave appropriate information to the Respondent in support of his application for a waiver. 
98. The Tribunal refers to its findings at paragraph 92 above. 

Mr McKee’s contention that Respondent was biased against, evasive and threatening towards Mr McKee in its consideration of his application for a waiver, and that it had misled him
Mr McKee’s evidence

99. In Mr McKee’s oral evidence with respect to the allegation that he was misled, he said this was in the context of the reference by the Respondent to the question of policies and Freedom of Information. Mr McKee said he had been looking for guidance from the Respondent.  He compared the position with the situation with regard to the Charity Commission for England and Wales (“CCEW”), where, Mr McKee said, the first thing they tried to do was send out an application form and the procedures. Mr McKee said that he had asked two or three questions and was told not to worry, the Respondent would adopt a proper procedure. Mr McKee said that when he asked for clarification about the policy, he was told this was being treated as a Freedom of Information request, and then he was turned down when he asked about information.  Even his challenge to the refusal to give the documents under FOI had been turned down. 
100. Mr McKee said that the Respondent published the procedure on 23 January 2015, and he accepted that it did provide guidance.  He said that the guidance introduced different aspects and questions.  He said that the questions differ from other jurisdictions. Mr McKee said he was the only one who had been taken into account in developing the Policy.  
101. Mr McKee said that was there was no procedure in place until three months after he made his application: the Respondent was prepared to remove him but not to deal with the consequences. 
102. The Tribunal asked Mr McKee did he feel that the procedure was drafted with him in mind.  He said he so believed: the procedure and guidance was issued after he had made his first application. The Board Minutes showed that the Respondent had resolved that anyone making an application for a waiver and which it was refused could not apply within a further 6-month period. 
103. Mr McKee said he had a cumulative impression as to how he was being treated. He said there was reticence in giving him information about what was expected of him.  Mr McKee said there was a switching of case workers.  He said he felt that there was a real likelihood of bias against him.  He referred to the Corporate Risk Register and in particular a common therein in the following terms:

These significant cases are testing our resources to the limit and as a result of some high profile regulatory cases, have not been progressed. In addition, resources continue to be allocated to respond to complaints and lobbying by a small number of disaffected individuals, and the Commission is now engaged in follow up Tribunal work with another Regulator. 

104. Mr McKee said that he assumed the reference to another Regulator was to the Information Commissioner. He said he believed that the reference to “disaffected individuals” alluded to him.  This had been issued on 18 May 2015, after his application and before a decision was made. Mr McKee said this constituted bias.  He said he did think he could prove bias.  
105. Mr McKee also put before the Tribunal a letter dated 3 June 2015, regarding a draft of a response to defamation letter of claim relating, it was said, to comments made by the Charity about Mr Burke. Mr McKee also referred to an internet report, concerning the Charity and the Respondent’s and Tribunal’s decisions. dated January 2015. Mr McKee said this was before the determination in respect of him.  Mr McKee queried the timing of this publication, given that the Tribunal had given its decision in July 2014.  This had been printed in a local paper. Mr McKee said that the risk register was a continuation of this. 

Mr McKeown’s evidence

106. Mr McKeown said that the Respondent had commenced development of the policy and procedure before Mr McKee contacted the Respondent. There was a legal function, and then a paper was prepared by the Board, which set out the procedure and the risks to be considered. That legal and Board process had been completed in December 2014/January 2015. The procedure was then comprised in the Guidance, which had been published on 23 January 2015.  
107. Mr McKeown, by reference to the documents, said there was no difference at all between the questions asked pre and post publication of the policy.  As to whether he refused to give information, Mr McKeown said that the procedure had been in draft: he would be prepared to share a draft report, but not a draft policy. There was no point in putting out a draft policy or draft procedure, as the risk was that the wrong process would be followed.  With regard to the freedom of information, there was nothing to be published, as the guidance was only then about to be published. 
The Tribunal’s findings in respect of Mr McKee’s contention that Respondent was biased against, evasive and threatening towards Mr McKee in its consideration of his application for a waiver, and that it had misled him
108. Having considered the evidence about Mr McKee’s contention that Respondent was biased against, evasive and threatening towards Mr McKee in its consideration of his application for a waiver, and that it had misled him, the Tribunal makes the following findings:

a. There was not a final, definitive waiver policy in place when Mr McKee made his application for a waiver in November 2014, in the sense that the finalisation of the process was subject to legal and Board consideration. 
b. When the Respondent was asked by Mr McKee to provide him with a copy of the policy applicable to waivers, instead of simply telling him that there was no such policy in place, the Respondent first told Mr McKee that a proper policy would be applied, and when he pressed, he was told that his request was being treated as an application under the FOI legislation. 
c. There was a practical reason why the policy was not in existence – it was being considered by the Respondent’s lawyers and the Board. That could easily and readily been communicated to Mr McKee. The failure of the Respondent to do so unnecessarily engendered concern and suspicion on the part of Mr McKee.
d. Given the Respondent’s statutory obligations as to how it must conduct itself – including as to transparency and accountability – it was not transparent or accountable to deal with a simple request for confirmation as to the existence of a policy by invoking the FOI legislation. 

e. As regards the contents of the Corporate Risk Register, Mr McKee was not identified by name as being one of the “disaffected individuals.” The Tribunal was not given any explanation as to whom this comment related. However, given the nature of the comment, the Tribunal considers that Mr McKee has some basis for concluding that the Respondent felt a measure of irritation with those who were challenging its decisions. That was not a proper impression for the Respondent to give, given its statutory duties and objectives. 
f. However, the Tribunal does not consider that this amounted to evidence of bias against Mr McKee specifically. Indeed, there is evidence which counters any suggestion of bias on the part of either Ms Muldoon or Mr McKeown:

i. Ms Muldoon acceded to Mr McKee’s request that she not contact the Charity for its views as to his application. 

ii. Mr McKeown repeatedly asked Mr McKee to provide him with information in support of his application for a waiver. 

iii. Mr McKeown agreed that, in support of his application, Mr McKee could use his AccessNI Certificate instead of a DBS Certificate. 

g. The Tribunal rejects the suggestion that Mr McKeown was threatening towards Mr McKee. The Tribunal notes that Mr McKeown did say in his letters that “inference” may be drawn from a failure to provide information. The Tribunal considers that it would have been preferable that the Respondent couched this aspect if its letters in terms of emphasising how Mr McKee might have assisted his application, rather than referring to inferences. But the Tribunal does not consider that Mr McKee was threatened.  

Mr McKee’s contention that the Respondent did not have in place a proper procedure for the consideration of applications for waiver.

109. There were a number of aspects to this criticisms:

a. The Respondent did not have in place a proper procedure for the consideration of applications for waiver.

b. The procedure adopted by the Respondent, including the adoption of a step-out process, whereby officials not engaged in the case were asked to consider it, was improper. 

c. The Respondent unreasonably refused to meet him to discuss his application for a waiver.
The lack of procedure

110. The evidence with respect to the existence of a procedure has been set out above. As appears from paragraph 108.a. above, the Tribunal has found that there was not a final, definitive policy in place at the time when Mr McKee made his application in November 2014. 
111. The Tribunal was and is surprised that the Respondent had not put in such a policy at an earlier time: the disqualification order had been made against Mr McKee in August 2013, and the Tribunal considers that the Respondent should have had in place a waiver procedure as soon as it was engaging in making disqualification orders. 
The step-out process

The evidence

112. In the course of his evidence, Mr McKee described how Mr McKeown had discussed the process with officers within the Respondent who were unconnected with the case. Mr McKeown explained that this was because this was the first application which had got to this stage. 
The Tribunal’s findings as to step-out process

113. The Tribunal finds as follows with respect to the step-out process:

a. It was reasonable and understandable to discuss the decision with persons who were not involved, given the relative novelty of the process. 

b. The step-out process was minuted, thus ensuring accountability. 
c. The persons involved in the step-out process had not been earlier involved in the case. 

A meeting

Mr McKee’s evidence

114. In the course of his evidence, Mr McKee said that the Respondent should have held a meeting with him.  He had requested a meeting on two separate occasions because he was confused about matters at that point in time and Mr McKee said he felt confused and isolated.
Mr McKeown’s evidence

115. Mr McKeown said that the Respondent has not met any of the people who have applied for a waiver. He said he had communicated with Mr McKee on a number of occasions.  Mr McKee had also said that he should make a decision on the information that was available to date. Mr McKeown said that the procedure and application form are meant to be sufficient and full as possible.
Tribunal’s findings as to meetings

116. With regard to the question of a meeting, the Tribunal makes the following findings:

a. Mr McKee requested a meeting, which the Respondent refused. 

b. It was the Respondent’s policy not to convene meetings, as the application form process should reveal all the information which the applicant wished to put before the Respondent. 
c. The Respondent had repeatedly sought information from Mr McKee as to his work with charities, which information he had refused to give. 

d. Given that Mr McKee had indicated repeatedly and clearly that there was no further information which he either could or would give, it was reasonable and understandable of the Respondent, in these circumstances, not to convene a meeting. 
The nature of Mr McKee’s appeal and the discretions to be exercised by the Tribunal

117. Before setting out its conclusions as to how it will dispose of Mr McKee’s appeal, the Tribunal has reminded itself both of the nature of the appeal which it is conducting, and the powers available to it. 
118. As regards the nature of the appeal, the Tribunal is required to consider afresh the decision, direction or order appealed against, and it may take into account evidence which was not available to the Respondent.

119. As regards the Tribunal’s powers, The Tribunal may (a) dismiss the appeal, or (b) if it allows the appeal, exercise any of the powers specified, namely, the powers to (a) quash the decision and (if appropriate) remit the matter to the Respondent, (b) substitute for the decision any other decision of a kind which could have been made by the Respondent.

The Tribunal’s consideration of whether it should grant a waiver to Mr McKee

120. The Tribunal has set out above, at length, the evidence received by the Respondent, and that received by the Tribunal at the hearing. It now sets out the factors which weigh in favour of it granting a waiver, and those weighing against granting a waiver. 

Factors in favour of granting a waiver

121. The Tribunal considers that the following factors weigh in favour of granting a waiver:

a. It is over three years since the Respondent made its order, disqualifying Mr McKee from acting as a trustee. It is around two and a half years since the Tribunal upheld the order disqualifying Mr McKee from acting as a trustee. 

b. There has never been any suggestion of dishonesty against Mr McKee.
c. There has been no repeat of any of the matters which led to the initial disqualification.
d. The context for Mr McKee’s initial disqualification was a deep and acrimonious dispute within the charity. 

e. The Tribunal found that Mr McKee had committed mismanagement, but not misconduct, in the affairs of the Charity. This was recorded in the Tribunal’s decision of July 2014.

f. Apart from the matters which led to the initial disqualification, Mr McKee had given many years of faithful service to the charity sector.

g. Mr McKee clearly has an interest in the charity sector, as demonstrated by his work in the sector, pre-disqualification, by his research into charity law and procedure, and by his role in the “Probity” group. 

h. Mr McKee does have experience of representing employees in employment situations; his current work involves administration; and he has encouraged people to become involved in the Charity. 

i. Mr McKee asserts that he will not repeat the conduct which led to his disqualification. 

j. There are members of the Charity who wish Mr McKee to act as a trustee.

Factors against granting a waiver

122. The Tribunal considers that the following factors weigh against granting a waiver:

a. Despite being asked to do so, neither Mr McKee nor Mr Burke gave the Tribunal any information whatsoever as to the other charities with which they have been involved, or with which they may become involved, through “Probity”, or otherwise. 

b. The Tribunal does not have before it any evidence which allows it to draw any conclusions as to the actual activities of “Probity”. All the Tribunal has been provided with is a general description of activity. 
c. Mr McKee did not give any evidence to the Tribunal as to his conduct with respect to (i) the authorised decision-making organs within any charity or other organisation, or (ii) his work or role with the assets of any organisation.

123. The Tribunal also finds that Mr McKee has been, and is and remains able to perform his role in Probity without being a charity trustee; indeed the contrary was not contended. 

Decision on whether to grant a waiver
124. As noted above, there are a number of factors which weigh in favour of granting a general waiver to Mr McKee. 

125. However, despite being repeatedly asked by the Respondent and by the Tribunal to do so, Mr McKee failed to provide any details either as to his current activities or his planned activities in the charity sector. Both the Respondent and the Tribunal were interested to see what Mr McKee’s activities in organisations might demonstrate as to how he was conducting himself. 
126. For example, Mr McKee might have produced witnesses, in the way of members of the board of a charity, or documents, in the way of references, statements or letters, attesting to his approach to involvement with such organisations. Indeed, in his correspondence to the Respondent, Mr McKee indicated that testimonials might be produced at some time. But they were not. 
127. The Tribunal notes that Mr McKee has asserted he will not repeat the mistakes of the past, and given that his honesty is not in doubt, the Tribunal readily accepts that as a truthful statement of his intention as to how he will act in the future. 
128. However, given the important public interests in play, the Tribunal considers that evidence of Mr McKee’s recent actual activities (as opposed to his general description of them) was required before the Tribunal could conclude that the risk of mismanagement, identified in its earlier decision of July 2014, had been eliminated or reduced to the extent that the disqualification should be waived. 

129. Indeed, the Tribunal would go further and say that it was troubled that Mr McKee still did not appreciate that he could and should put before the Tribunal a full picture of his activities, rather than keeping information back from the Tribunal on the grounds of confidentiality. A key theme in the 2008 Act is the engendering of public confidence in charities. It is consistent with that theme that, in an appropriate case, the Tribunal should receive information and evidence, which will be publicly considered and recorded, before it decides to grant a waiver from a disqualification order. 

130. In short, therefore, the Tribunal concludes that, notwithstanding Mr McKee’s clear interest in the charity sector, and his potential to make a contribution to it as a trustee, in the absence of evidence as to Mr McKee’s recent activities and how he has conducted them, it is not persuaded that a general waiver should be granted. 
131. Accordingly, having considered afresh Mr McKee’s application for a general waiver, the Tribunal, in the exercise of its discretion and having considered the evidence before it, decides not to grant such a general waiver. 

Disposal

132. The Tribunal now turn to set out how it disposes of Mr McKee’s appeal. The Tribunal may allow the appeal, or quash the Respondent’s decision, and make any decision the Respondent might have made or remit the decision to the Respondent. 

133. The Tribunal has considered whether it should allow Mr McKee’s appeal and either remit the decision to the Respondent or take a decision which might have been made by the Respondent. 

134. As regards the question of quashing the decision made by the Respondent, the Tribunal notes that there were deficiencies in Respondent’s approach to the taking of its decision. For example, it overstated the significance, as to risk, of Mr McKee’s failure to accept “wrongdoing”. Further, the Respondent adopted varying expressions of what risk was presented by such non-acceptance – a “real risk” and a “high risk”. 

135. As against that, the Respondent, in the Tribunal’s opinion, properly considered factors which weighed in favour of a waiver (e.g. Mr McKee’s experience and potential contribution and the time passed since disqualification) and properly considered a factor weighing against a waiver (Mr McKee’s repeated failure to give information about his activities). 

136. On a different note, the Tribunal considers that the Respondent should not have diverted Mr McKee’s request for information by deploying the FOI legislation. However, the Tribunal is not satisfied there was bias against Mr McKee in its consideration of his application. 
137. In summary, whilst the Tribunal considers that there were some deficiencies in the Respondent’s evaluation of Mr McKee’s application, it nonetheless concurs with the result reached by the Respondent: in the absence of detailed information as to Mr McKee’s current activities, so as to allow it to consider risk of future mismanagement, the Respondent was correct not to grant a waiver. In these circumstances, the Tribunal does not consider that the appeal should be allowed. 

138. On that basis, the question of the Tribunal remitting the decision back to the Respondent, or the Tribunal taking a decision about waiver does not arise. 
139. But the Tribunal notes that if the question of remitting the decision were live, the Tribunal would have declined to remit the decision. Mr McKee had made it entirely clear, and repeatedly so, that he is not prepared to give any further information about his activities with charities and other organisations. Accordingly, even were the decision to be remitted to the Respondent, and even if it were to remedy the deficiencies in its approach as to procedure and evaluation of the “non-acceptance of wrongdoing” risk, it appears that Mr McKee would not put before the Respondent the important information required in this case.

140. Equally, even if the Tribunal had decided to allow the appeal, it would not have granted a general waiver, for the reasons set out at paragraphs 124 to 130 above. It is noted that Mr McKee did not seek a specific waiver, and there is no evidence upon the basis of which the Tribunal could have granted a waiver in respect of a specific charity or charities.  
141. In these circumstances, Mr McKee’s appeal is dismissed. 
Mr Burke’s appeal

142. The Tribunal now turns to consider Mr Burke’s appeal as an affected person. In that regard, the Tribunal notes the formulation adopted by Lord Carlile of Berriew QC (sitting as Deputy High Court Judge) in R (on application of International Peace Project 2000) v Charity Commission for England and Wales [2009] EWHC (admin) 3446, as to an affected person being someone who has an interest that is materially greater than, or different from, the interest of the ordinary member of the public."
143. Mr Burke’s evidence about his contact and interaction with Mr McKee has been set out above. As appears from his witness statement, Mr Burke said:

7. I have a long established relationship with Mr McKee which would be of benefit to Probity should it aspire to gain charitable status. 

8. Having Mr McKee as a trustee of Probity would be of great assistance to charities generally. 

144. Mr Burke went on to said that the case “is important to me as an individual” and that “I have been personally prejudiced as a result of the decision of the Respondent not to grant a waiver and how I am being treated by the Commission as a consequence of that decision”. Mr Burke also drew attention to the fact that he was affected as a member of Charity. In the course of her cross-examination of Mr Burke, Ms Bell put it to him that there was no evidence he was a member.  Mr Burke said that he is a member of the Charity. 

145. The Tribunal finds that Mr Burke’s complaint is primarily that if Mr McKee is not permitted to be a trustee, that will affect the operation of “Probity”. However, the Tribunal has already found that “Probity” is not a charity, and any affect upon Probity or charities generally, as Mr Burke puts it, does not render him an affected person.

146. In any event, in circumstances where Mr McKee’s appeal has been dismissed, and the Tribunal has declined to grant a waiver, the Tribunal considers that there is no matter by which Mr Burke has been affected, for the purposes of the 2008 Act.

147. Accordingly, Mr Burke’s appeal is dismissed.
Right of Appeal

148. Pursuant to Rule 32(2) of the Rules, a right of appeal lies from this decision of the Tribunal to the High Court of Justice in Northern Ireland. Any party, or the Attorney General, seeking permission to appeal must make a written application to the Tribunal for permission to appeal, to be received by the Tribunal no later than 28 days from the date on which the Tribunal sent notification of this decision to the person seeking permission to appeal. Such application must identify the alleged error(s) in the decision and state the grounds on which the person applying intends to rely before the High Court.
Dated 16 December 2016.
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